Document:-
A/CN.4/SR.1913

Summary record of the 1913th meeting

Topic:
<multiple topics>

Extract from the Y earbook of the International Law Commission:-

1985, vol. |

Downloaded from the web site of the International Law Commission
(http://mww.un.org/law/ilc/index.htm)

Copyright © United Nations



1913th meeting—28 June 1985

217

mission to collect. Such an arrangement was clearly
not satisfactory from the point of view of the sending
State.

54. Chief AKINJIDE supported the text of article
30 as it stood and the position taken by the Special
Rapporteur.

55. The CHAIRMAN, speaking as a member of
the Commission, said that he could accept the text as
it stood, subject to a satisfactory explanation in the
commentary. His main concern was that article 30
should not provide an easy escape from the pro-
visions of article 36.

56. Mr. RIPHAGEN said that, if a reference to a
prior arrangement was needed, it must be made in the
text of the article, not in the commentary.

57. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) said that the requirement of a
prior arrangement had been discussed in the Drafting
Committee, but it had been considered that such a
requirement would constitute a limitation on un-
impeded access to the ship or aircraft. The two points
raised by the Chairman had also been extensively
discussed in the Drafting Committee.

58. Sir Ian SINCLAIR said that the general feeling
in the Drafting Committee had been that to insert the
formula “by prior arrangement” in the article itself
could be considered as limiting the right given to the
sending State. There had been instances of access
being refused by the authorities of the receiving State,
relying on the argument that no prior arrangement
had been made.

59. He did not share Mr. Riphagen’s reservations
about making the reference in the commentary. Prac-
tical arrangements could be made for the exercise of
the rights of the sending State, and it would therefore
be perfectly appropriate for the commentary to men-
tion them. Of course, the commentary should also
stress the great importance of unimpeded access to
the ship or aircraft.

60. Mr. USHAKOY said that the reason why an
“arrangement” was mentioned in article 28, para-
graph §, of the 1969 Convention on Special Missions
and in article 27, paragraph 7, of the 1975 Vienna
Convention on the Representation of States was
simply in order that the receiving State or host State
might be informed of the situation, so that it could be
required to allow free access to the ship or aircraft.
The idea of an arrangement was in no way restrictive
in that case. Moreover, an arrangement could also be
necessary for the member of the mission, consular
post or delegation of the sending State who was
authorized to take possession of the bag from the
captain or deliver it to him. Those details should be
included in the commentary.

61. Mr. TOMUSCHAT, referring to the relation-
ship between article 30 and article 36, suggested that
the commentary should explain that the rules in ar-
ticle 30 were subject to those in article 36.

62. He felt strongly that the question of using reg-
ular charter flights for the transport of the bag
should not be left to individual agreements between
States. Charter flights were in fact just as regular as
scheduled flights and differed from them only in
respect of the booking system. The distinction

between the two was not relevant to the rules in
article 30.

63. The CHAIRMAN said that that point could be
clarified in the commentary.

64. Mr. KOROMA urged that the point be settled
in the article itself, not merely in the commentary. He
suggested that the wording of paragraph 1 should be
broadened to include regular charter flights, which
were widely used. The qualification “by prior ar-
rangement” should be inserted in the text of para-
graph 3. It was not enough to refer to the matter in
the commentary, which would not be disseminated as
widely as the future convention.

65. The CHAIRMAN proposed that article 30
should be adopted on first reading, on the under-
standing that the commentary would clarify the vari-
ous points which had been raised. In particular, it
would indicate that the term “scheduled” was to be
understood as including regular charter flights. It
would also make clear that prior arrangement would
be necessary for the exercise of the right of access
provided for in paragraph 3.

66. If there were no further comments, he would
take it that the Commission agreed to adopt article
30 [23] on first reading, on that understanding.

It was so agreed.
Article 30 [23] was adopted.
The meeting rose at 1.05 p.m.

1913th MEETING

Friday, 28 June 1985, at 10.05 a.m.

Chairman.: Mr. Satya Pal JAGOTA

later : Mr. Khalafalla EL RASHEED MOHAMED
AHMED

Present : Chief Akinjide, Mr. Al-Qaysi, Mr. Aran-
gio-Ruiz, Mr. Balanda, Mr. Calero Rodrigues, Mr.
Flitan, Mr. Francis, Mr. Koroma, Mr. Lacleta
Mufioz, Mr. Mahiou, Mr. McCaffrey, Mr. Ogiso,
Mr. Pirzada, Mr. Razafindralambo, Mr. Reuter, Mr.
Riphagen, Mr. Roukounas, Sir Ian Sinclair, Mr.
Sucharitkul, Mr. Tomuschat, Mr. Ushakov, Mr.
Yankov.

Visit by a member of the International
Court of Justice

1. The CHAIRMAN extended a warm welcome to
Mr. Evensen, a Judge of the International Court of
Justice and a former member of the Commission.

Status of the diplomatic courier and the diplomatic
bag not accompanied by diplomatic courier (contin-
wed) AJCN.4/382,' A/CN.4/390,> A/CN.4/L.382,
sect. C, ILC(XXXVII)/Conf.Room Dec.2 and
Add.1)

! Reproduced in Yearbook ... 1984, vol. 11 (Part One).
* Reproduced in Yearbook ... 1985, vol. II (Part One).



218

Summary records of the meetings of the thirty-seventh session

[Agenda item 5]

DRAFT ARTICLES PROPOSED BY THE DRAFTING
CoMMITTEE (continued) (A/CN.4/L.384)

ARTICLES 31 to 35

AI;)TICLE 31 [24] (Identification of the diplomatic
ag)

2. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) presented article 31 [24] as pro-
posed by the Drafting Committee, which read:

Article 31 [24]. Identification of the diplomatic bag

1. The packages constituting the diplomatic bag shall bear visible
external marks of their character.

2. The packages constituting the diplomatic bag, if unaccom-
panied by a diplomatic courier, shall also bear a visible indication of
their destination and consignee.

3. The article was a shortened version of the orig-
inal text,” which had been reduced to two para-
graphs. The only change in paragraph 1 was the
deletion of the word *‘official” before the word
“character”.

4. Originally, paragraph 2 had required that the
packages constituting the bag should bear an indica-
tion of any intermediary points on the route or
transfer points, but that requirement had been de-
leted in the light of the discussion in the Commis-
sion.

5. Paragraph 3 of the original text concerned the
maximum size or weight of the bag. It had been
deleted in the light not only of the debate, but also of
the provisions of article 34, which specified that the
conditions established nationally and internationally
to govern the use of the postal service should apply to
the transmission of the bag by post. It had been
thought that the question of the maximum size or
weight should be a matter for agreement between the
sending and receiving States. On the other hand, the
text should omit any reference to such an agreement,
which might imply that agreement was necessary; a
requirement of that kind could interfere with freedom
of communication. The purpose of paragraph 3 had
been to limit possible abuse, but the Drafting Com-
mittee had taken the view that the question could be
solved by bilateral agreement. Moreover, with regard
to misuse of the bag, the most important factor was
{)he content rather than the size or weight of the
ag.

6. The title had been adjusted in order to reflect
more accurately the subject-matter of the article.
Lastly, the Drafting Committee had carefully exam-
ined all the matters involved in the deletions, which
had been made out of a desire to simplify the text but
also because the Committee had considered that ar-
ticle 31 would be more effective if it were limited to
the essentials.

3 For the text submitted by the Special Rapporteur and the
Commission’s consideration thereof, see Yearbook ... 1984, vol. 1,
pp- 89 et seq., 1830th meeting (paras. 1-25), pp. 107 et seq., 1832nd
meeting (paras. 17 et seq.) and pp. 162 et seq., 1842nd and 1843rd
meetings and 1844th meeting, paras. 1-20.

7. Mr. USHAKOY noted that, under the terms of
paragraph 1 of article 31, the packages constituting
the diplomatic bag ‘“shall” bear visible external
marks of their character and that, under the terms of
paragraph 2, they “shall also” bear a visible indica-
tion of their destination and consignee. The first
obligation, relating to the sending State, was stricter
than the second obligation, which could relate
equally to the postal service or the transport com-
pany concerned. In the absence of the visible external
marks mentioned in paragraph 1, a bag did not enjoy
the status of a diplomatic bag. On the other hand, if
the packages constituting a diplomatic bag not
accompanied by a courier did not bear an indication
of their destination and consignee, as stipulated in
paragraph 2, it could not be reasonably inferred that
they did not constitute a diplomatic bag. In due
course, the commentary to article 31 could perhaps
explain that the obligation under paragraph 2 was
not so strict as the obligation set forth in paragraph |
and that failure to observe it had no effect on the
legal status of the diplomatic bag.

8. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) said that the character of the
diplomatic bag did not stem from the marks in ques-
tion. The usual practice was for all bags, whether
accompanied or unaccompanied, to bear some visible
indication of their destination. It had not been
deemed essential to stipulate that requirement, how-
ever, when the bag was accompanied by a diplomatic
courier.

9. Mr. YANKOY (Special Rapporteur) pointed out
that, by virtue of paragraph 1 of article 31, all diplo-
matic bags had to bear visible external marks of their
character. The additional requirement in the case of
unaccompanied bags was a visible indication of their
destination, in order to permit dispatch to the appro-
priate consignee. Of course, even when a bag was
accompanied by a courier, the destination was nor-
mally indicated.

10. Mr. USHAKOY said the fact that the diplo-
matic bag was not accompanied by a courier did not
signify that it was not accompanied by an agent of a
transport company, in which case it did not seem
really necessary to require an indication of the desti-
nation and the consignee of the bag. The most troub-
lesome point was that the absence of the indication
mentioned in paragraph 2 might be interpreted as
depriving the bag of its diplomatic character.

11. The CHAIRMAN said that the matter could
well be clarified in the commentary by explaining
that the word “also” had been inserted in paragraph
2 in order to emphasize that the unaccompanied bag
was subject to the rule in paragraph | as well.

12. Mr. KOROMA said that the point could be
made clearer by replacing the word “also” by the
words ‘““in addition”. It would thus be apparent that
paragraph 1 applied to all bags and that paragraph 2
contained an additional requirement for unaccom-
panied bags.

13. Sir Ian SINCLAIR said that there would be
little difference in substance between the word “also”
and the expression “in addition”, although the latter
would supply some extra emphasis. The matter could
be handled in the commentary by explaining that



1913th meeting—28 June 198§

219

paragraph 2 embodied an additional requirement for
unaccompanied bags, intended for the practical pur-
pose of enabling the bag to reach its destination. The
commentary should also make it plain that the
absence of any indication of destination or consignee
would not detract from the status of the bag as a
diplomatic bag.

14. Mr. FRANCIS said that small countries like his
own did not have diplomatic couriers; their diplo-
matic bags were always unaccompanied, hence the
special interest for them of the problems under dis-
cussion. His own concern was mainly with the use in
paragraph 1 of the formula “The packages constitut-
ing the diplomatic bag”. The term “packages” could
be taken to refer to the actual contents of the bag. If
the seal of the diplomatic bag was broken, perhaps
accidentally, a serious problem would arise if the
individual packages were not properly identified; the
contents might even be lost.

15. Mr. FLITAN, referring to the comments made
by Mr. Francis, said it was apparent from the defi-
nition of the term “diplomatic bag” in article 3, para-
graph 1 (2), that the diplomatic bag consisted of
packages.

16. Neither Mr. Ushakov nor Mr. Koroma had
made a formal proposal to amend article 31 and
account might be taken of their concern on second
reading of the article, more particularly in the com-
mentary.

17. Chief AKINJIDE explained that the Drafting
Committee’s main reason for using the words men-
tioned by Mr. Francis had been the need harmonize
the text of article 31 with the wording of article 27,
paragraph 4, of the 1961 Vienna Convention on
Diplomatic Relations.

18. Mr. EL RASHEED MOHAMED AHMED
drew attention to the definition of “diplomatic bag”
contained in article 3, paragraph 1 (2), which stated
that: “‘diplomatic bag’ means the packages contain-
ing ...”. Accordingly, the use of the term “bag” by
itself would imply that it could consist of a number of
packages. The point could be explained in the com-
mentary.

19. The CHAIRMAN, speaking as a member of
the Commission, said that, as a practical matter, if a
bag consisted of several packages, each package had
to be marked.

20. Mr. REUTER said it was essential to explain
clearly that, in the definitions in the draft, which were
taken from the 1961 Vienna Convention on Diplo-
matic Relations, the term ‘“bag” had no physical
connotation. It was a legal concept, and since a legal
concept could not be opened, it might seem surpris-
ing to assert that the bag should not be opened.
However, it was a convenient form of language taken
from the 1961 Vienna Convention. Specifically, if the
bag consisted of a sack, it was in keeping with the
concept of a diplomatic bag. On the other hand, if
the bag consisted of a number of physical objects,
such as a case, sacks and a container, each one
formed a separate package and those packages had
to be identified in order to form the abstract concept
of a diplomatic bag. Just as the physical concept of a
bag had become a legal concept, the physical notion
of a portfolio had become a theoretical concept in the

case of the leather portfolio formerly handed to
members of the French Government and now re-
ferred to only in such expressions as “holder of a
ministerial portfolio™.

21. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) said that he had nothing to add
to the explanations given by the Chairman and by
Mr. Reuter, who had clarified the matter suf-
ficiently.

22. The CHAIRMAN, speaking as a member of
the Commission, said that paragraph 3 of the original
text, now deleted by the Drafting Committee, had
been intended to avoid misuse of the bag and his own
preference would have been to retain it. Admittedly it
had stated that the maximum size or weight of the
diplomatic bag “shall be determined” by agreement
between the sending State and the receiving State,
and he would have agreed to tone down the words in
question and say “may be determined”, so as to
indicate that States were free to impose size and
weight limitations by agreement. He did not, how-
ever, wish to press the point and would be content to
see the matter explained in the commentary.

23. Mr. YANKOYV (Special Rapporteur) said that
the commentary would refer to the practice of certain
States, in particular Latin American States, of estab-
lishing limits for the size and weight of diplomatic
bags. It would also mention the international agree-
ments on the subject and the UPU regulations, which
would of course govern the dispatch of unaccom-
panied bags by post.

24. Mr. OGISO endorsed the Special Rapporteur’s
comment. As to Mr. Ushakov’s contention that the
wording of paragraph 2 was much too mandatory,
the receiving State and the transit State were obliged
under article 35 to provide the facilities necessary for
the safe and rapid transmission or delivery of the
diplomatic bag. Accordingly, if a bag was not accom-
panied by a courier, it was very useful for the pack-
ages to bear a visible indication of the destination
and consignee so as to ensure safe delivery.

25. Mr. KOROMA said that, further to Sir Ian
Sinclair’s comment, he could accept the word *‘also™
in paragraph 2, provided that the commentary
explained that its purpose was to indicate that the
paragraph embodied an additional requirement in
the case of unaccompanied bags.

26. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) drew attention to the definition
of the diplomatic bag given in article 3, paragraph 1
(2). The bag could consist of only one package, which
would then constitute the diplomatic bag, or it could
consist of two or more packages. The terms of article
31 were sufficiently clear to indicate that they covered
the packages which constituted the bag, not the con-
tents. Equally clear was the fact that the marks and
indications referred to in the article had to be on the
outside of the packages.

27. The CHAIRMAN pointed out that paragraph
1 of article 31 had to be interpreted in the light of
State practice with regard to the form of language
used in article 27, paragraph 4, of the 1961 Vienna
Convention on Diplomatic Relations.



220

Summary records of the meetings of the thirty-seventh session

28. Mr. USHAKOYV said that the Russian text of
article 31 used a very precise word which corre-
sponded more or less to ‘““pieces”.

29. Mr. LACLETA MUNOZ said that the word
bultos, in the Spanish text, was equally clear.

30. The CHAIRMAN said that, if there were no
objections, he would take it that the Commission
agreed to adopt article 31 [24] on first reading in the
form proposed by the Drafting Committee.

Article 31 [24] was adopted.

ARTICLE 32 [25] (Content of the diplomatic bag)

31. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) presented article 32 [25] as pro-
posed by the Drafting Committee, which read:

Article 32 |25]. Content of the diplomatic bag

1. The diplomatic bag may contain only official correspondence,
and documents or articles intended exclusively for official use.

2. The sending State shall take appropriate measures to prevent

the dispatch through its diplomatic bag of articles other than those
referred to in paragraph 1.

32. Paragraph | of the original text of article 32*
had not been changed; it emphasized that the
“documents” and ‘‘articles” referred to were those
“intended exclusively for official use”. There had
been lengthy discussion about whether the word
“exclusively” should be used. That wording had been
taken from article 35, paragraph 4, of the 1963
Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. More-
over, article 3, paragraph 1 (2), as provisionally ad-
opted by the Commission, contained the same form
of words. The Drafting Committee had accordingly
decided to retain it, but it could, of course, revert to
the matter at a later stage.

33. One member of the Committee had expressed
reservations regarding paragraph 1 of article 32
because it allowed too much room for possible abuse
of the diplomatic bag as a means of transport, for
example for the dispatch of inappropriate articles like
weapons or furniture without the consent of the
receiving State. In that member’s view, the bag
should be used for communication, not transport.

34. Lastly, in the light of the Commission’s discus-
sions and at the suggestion of the Special Rappor-
teur, the Committee had decided to delete the last
phrase of the original text of paragraph 2, which had
dealt with the prosecution and punishment of per-
sons responsible for misuse of the bag.

35. Mr. LACLETA MUNOZ explained that the
Chairman of the Drafting Committee had been allud-
ing to him. The reason for his own attitude in the
Committee had been that the words “articles ... for
official use” in paragraph 1 of article 32 were taken
virtually word for word from article 36, paragraph 1
(a), of 1961 Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Rela-
tions, a provision which in fact covered articles that
could be imported by a mission into the receiving
State. When interpreted literally, the words in ques-
tion encouraged the belief that the bag was not a
means to facilitate the mission’s communications but
a means of transport of any article, regardless of size,

4 See footnote 3 above.

intended for the official use of the mission. However,
the word “bag” clearly brought to mind a package of
moderate size intended essentially to hold confiden-
tial correspondence and documents that were small in
format. Since he had held a minority view in the
Drafting Committee and consensus had been deemed
desirable, he could do no more the express reserva-
tions in that regard.

36. The CHAIRMAN said that, if there were no
objections, he would take it that the Commission
agreed to adopt article 32 [25] on first reading in the
form proposed by the Drafting Committee.

Article 32 [25] was adopted.

ARTICLE 33

37. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) said that the Committee was
proposing the deletion of article 33, on the status of
the diplomatic bag entrusted to the captain of a
commercial aircraft, the master of a merchant ship or
an authorized member of the crew.? It provided that
articles 31, 32 and 35 to 39 would apply to a bag
entrusted to the persons in question. The Drafting
Committee believed that, with one possible excep-
tion, those articles did not imply that they would not
be applicable if the bag were entrusted to a captain.
The one possible exception related to article 36,
which had been considered by the Commission. As
originally proposed, that article had contained a ter-
ritorial limitation, but in his oral introduction of his
sixth report (A/CN.4/390) the Special Rapporteur
had revised the text to eliminate the limitation
(1903rd meeting, para. 9). Article 36 would thus ap-
ply to a diplomatic bag ““at all times and wherever it
may be”, including on board a ship or aircraft in
commercial service, on or over the high seas. Hence it
seemed pointless to burden the draft with an un-
necessary article whose substance could easily be
covered elsewhere and in the commentaries. Of
course, in the Commission’s consideration of other
articles, it might well be deemed advisable to return
to the question.

38. The CHAIRMAN said that, if there were no
objections, he would take it that the Commission
agreed to endorse the Drafting Committee’s decision
to delete article 33.

Article 33 was deleted.

ARTICLE 34 [26] (Transmission of the diplomatic bag
by postal service or by any mode of transport)

39. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) presented article 34 [26] as pro-
posed by the Drafting Committee, which read:

Article 34 [26]. Transmission of the diplomatic bag
by postal service or by any mode of transport

The conditions governing the use of the postal service or of any
mode of transport, established by the relevant international or na-
tional rules, shall apply to the transmission of the packages
constituting the diplomatic bag.

S See footnote 3 above



1913th meeting—28 June 1985

221

40. The text of article 34 had been reduced to one
short paragraph. In the original text,® paragraph 2
had dealt with postal services and paragraph 3 with
ordinary means of transportation. The version now
being submitted used the terms employed in inter-
national conventions and spoke of “mode of trans-
port”. If the packages constituting the bag were
transmitted by postal service or by any mode of
transport, the conditions established by the relevant
international or national rules would apply.

41. Sir Tan SINCLAIR suggested that the words
“by the particular means utilized” shouid be inserted
at the end of the article. In its efforts to achieve
simplicity, the Drafting Committee had arrived at a
text which could lead to misunderstanding. The pur-
pose of his suggestion was to prevent any misinter-
pretation of article 31 whereby it would be regarded
as covering cases in which the bag was accompanied
by a diplomatic courier.

42, Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) said that the meaning intended
by Sir Ian Sinclair was already implicit in article 31,
but he had no objection to inserting the additional
words, which would make the matter more ex-
plicit.

43. Mr. YANKOV (Special Rapporteur) said that
he agreed with the Chairman of the Drafting Com-
mittee.

44. Mr. TOMUSCHAT expressed concern at the
reference to “‘national rules” and suggested that the
commentary should explain that it was not intended
to confer some kind of discretion on national legis-
lation.

45. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) said it was extremely unlikely
that any rules established by national legislation
would be in breach of the obligations arising under
the articles. The purpose of the reference to the “rel-
evant international or national rules” was to indicate
that, if the diplomatic bag were sent by mail, for
example, it would naturally be subject to the general
rules applicable to the use of postal services, rules
which were national and international, in other
words the UPU rules.

46. Mr. MAHIOU pointed out that article 34
related to the diplomatic bag not accompanied by a
courier; hence it might be preferable to make that
clear in the article itself by adding, at the end, the
words ‘“‘not accompanied by diplomatic courier”.

4_7. Mr. USHAKOYV said that he endorsed that
view.

48. Mr. KOROMA said that Mr. Tomuschat’s
point was a very important one. The reference to
“national rules” could be interpreted as meaning that
national legislation could derogate from the interna-
tional régime. Inviolability of the diplomatic bag was
indispensable and the Commission had agreed that
the bag should not be subject to any form of inspec-
tion by electronic or other devices. Some national
postal administrations had in fact introduced systems
of electronic inspection or scanning of material sent

¢ See footnote 3 above.

through the post. As a result, the reference to
“national rules” could lend itself to abuse.

Mr. El Rasheed Mohuamed Ahmed, First Vice-
Chairman, took the Chair.

49. Sir Ian SINCLAIR withdrew his suggestion, on
the understanding that the matter would be taken up
on second reading.

50. Mr. FLITAN, referring to Mr. Koroma’s com-
ments, said that the wording adopted by the Drafting
Committee was intended to reserve the rules of inter-
national law and internal law specifically governing
the postal service and any other mode of transport. It
was important for the draft to make no kind of
change either in relevant international agreements,
such as those concluded under the auspices of UPU,
or in national regulations.

51. Mr. RIPHAGEN pointed out that, in air trans-
port, regulations for the safety of passengers and
aircraft would always have to he observed.

52. Mr. FRANCIS said that he agreed with Mr,
Koroma about the importance of the point raised by
Mr. Tomuschat. It should be made clear that
national rules could not override the provisions of
the draft.

53. Mr. AL-QAYSI said that he failed to see how
the reference to “national rules” could be construed
as opening the door to the kind of conflict mentioned
by Mr. Tomuschat.

54. Chief AKINJIDE said that he agreed with Mr.
Al-Qaysi. Article 34 stated simply that, if the diplo-
matic bag was sent by post, the rules governing the
national postal service and the UPU rules would
have to be observed.

55. The CHAIRMAN said that, if there were no
objections, he would take it that the Commission
agreed to adopt article 34 [26] on first reading in the
form proposed by the Drafting Committee.

Article 34 [26] was adopted.

ARTICLE 35 [27] (Facilities accorded to the diplomatic
bag)

56. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Chairman of the
Drafting Committee) presented article 35 [27] as pro-
posed by the Drafting Committee, which read:

Article 35 [27]. Facilities accorded to the diplomatic bag

The receiving State or, as the case may be, the transit State shall
provide the facilities necessary for the safe and rapid transmission or
delivery of the diplomatic bag.

57.  Article 35 had been modified only slightly” and
had been brought into line with article 13, on facili-
ties accorded to the diplomatic courier. The words
“transportation and delivery” had been replaced by
“transmission or delivery” and such transmission
was required to be “safe and rapid”, instead of “safe
and speedy”. The word “general”” had been deleted
from the title, consistent with article 13, already pro-
visionally adopted, which bore the title “Facilities”
not “General facilities”.

? See footnote 3 above.



222

Summary records of the meetings of the thirty-seventh session

58. The CHAIRMAN said that, if there were no
objections, he would take it that the Commission
agreed to adopt article 35 [27] on first reading in the
form proposed by the Drafting Committee.

Article 35 [27] was adopted.

Mr. Jagota resumed the Chair.

DRAFT ARTICLES SUBMITTED BY THE
SPECIAL RAPPORTEUR® (continued)*

ARTICLE 23 (Immunity from jurisdiction)
ARTICLE 36 (Inviolability of the diplomatic bag)

ARTICLE 37 (Exemption from customs inspection,
customs duties and all dues and taxes)

ARTICLE 39 (Protective measures in circumstances
preventing the delivery of the diplomatic bag)

ARTICLE 40 (Obligations of the transit State in case of
Jorce majeure or fortuitous event)

ARTICLE 4] (Non-recognition of States or Govern-
ments or absence of diplomatic or consular rela-
tions)

ARTICLE 42 (Relation of the present articles to other
conventions and international agreements) and

ARTICLE 43 (Declaration of optional exceptions to
applicability in regard to designated types of cour-
iers and bags)® (continued)

59. The CHAIRMAN invited the Special Rappor-
teur to sum up the Commission’s debate on draft
articles 23 and 36 to 43.

60. Mr. YANKOYV (Special Rapporteur) thanked
members for their suggestions and comments, which
would receive close attention.

61. In connection with the topic under considera-
tion, certain general considerations relating to the
nature and purpose to the work had to be borne in
mind. In the first place, it was necessary to be clear
whether the Commission was involved simply in the
codification of international law, within the meaning
of article 15 of its statute, or in the progressive
development of international law, also within the
meaning of article 15 of its statute. It had always
been his understanding that the Commission’s work
on the present topic fell somewhere between codifi-
cation and progressive development in that it con-
tained an element of codification stricto sensu but
was also concerned with the amplification and devel-
opment of certain rules.

62. It had rightly been said that the Commission’s
task was sometimes complicated by the need to fol-
low established rules. The 1961 Vienna Convention

* Resumed from the 1911th meeting.

® The texts of the draft articles considered by the Commission at
its previous sessions are reproduced as follows:

Articles 1 to 8 and commentaries thereto, provisionally adopted
by the Commission at its thirty-fifth session: Yearbook ... 1983,
vol. II (Part Two), pp. 53 et seq.

Article 8 (revised) and articles 9 to 17, 19 and 20, and com-
mentaries thereto, provisionally adopted by the Commission at its
thirty-sixth session: Yearbook ... 1984, vol. 11 (Part Two), pp. 45 et
seq.

Articles 24 to 35, referred to the Drafting Committee at the
Commission’s thirty-sixth session: ibid., pp. 21 et seq., footnotes 84
to 90 and 93 to 97.

Article 23 and articles 36 to 42, submitted at the Commission’s
thirty-fifth and thirty-sixth sessions: ibid., pp. 21 and 25-27, foot-
notes 82 and 98 to 104.

® For the texts, see 1903rd meeting, para. L.

on Diplomatic Relations and the 1963 Vienna Con-
vention on Consular Relations had now been ratified
by approximately 140 and 110 States, respectively,
and thus formed part of international law. Although
the two other main codification conventions had still
not been ratified by the requisite number of States, in
their respective areas they too represented inter-
national law in many respects. It was therefore
important, so far as possible, to abide by those
instruments.

63. Another general point was the need for a com-
prehensive and uniform approach to couriers and
bags, in which connection he had endeavoured to
devise in draft articles 42 and 43 some mechanism for
adaptation to legal realities.

64. Yet another factor was the importance of the
principle of reciprocity, both as a general rule and as
it related to specific provisions concerning the facili-
ties, privileges and immunities accorded to the cour-
ier and bag, including the inviolability of the diplo-
matic bag. There were few areas of international law
in which the principle of reciprocity was of such
significance as in diplomatic and consular law. A
sending State, it should be remembered, was also a
receiving State and, very often, a transit State as well.
The need for a viable balance between the sovereign
rights and legitimate interests of the receiving or
transit State, on the one hand, and those of the
sending State, on the other, therefore had to be
viewed in the context of a two-way legal relation-
ship.

65. As to draft article 23, the diplomatic courier
had been variously described in the course of the
discussions as a vehicle, an instrument and a messen-
ger. All such designations were apposite, but the legal
status of the courier had to be evaluated by reference
to the main features of his duties. First of all, the
courier was an official of the sending State who
carried out a confidential mission on behalf of that
State in the field of diplomatic communications. In
doing so, he performed a task that was indispensable
to the external functions of the sending State. The
diplomatic courier was only one of many official
agents of the State, but his significance was that he
carried particularly sensitive information and docu-
ments to their destination; bags containing less con-
fidential material were sent by the ordinary postal
services or other means of commercial transport.
Thus professional couriers normally belonged to the
communications service of the ministry of foreign
affairs, whereas couriers ad hoc were usually mem-
bers of the diplomatic, administrative or technical
staff of the mission.

66. Secondly, a diplomatic courier, unlike a diplo-
matic agent or consular officer, did not exercise
representative functions. The significance of his
duties lay not in any representative capacity, but in
the official and confidential character of the mission
assigned to him. The protection of the courier and
the facilities, privileges and immunities accorded to
him were an important element in the external func-
tions of the State, and all the immunities, including
the jurisdictional immunities, were vested in the
State. From the standpoint of functional necessity,
the scope of the personal inviolability of the diplo-
matic courier was akin to that of a member of the



1913th meeting—28 June 1985

223

administrative and technical staff of a mission who,
while enjoying diplomatic privileges and immunities,
was not entitled to exercise any representative func-
tion.

67. A third feature of the diplomatic courier was his
mobility and the short duration of his stay in a given
country. That aspect of the courier’s functions, which
had been stressed by a number of speakers, could not
be considered in isolation from the other, official and
confidential, aspects of his functions. Adequate legal
protection and appropriate facilities, including per-
sonal inviolability and jurisdictional immunities,
were a functional necessity no matter how long they
welre required, and they should always be avail-
able.

68. Those comments brought him to the main issue
in the debate on draft article 23, namely the relation-
ship between the personal inviolability of the courier
under article 16 and immunity from jurisdiction
under article 23, paragraph 1. Two main questions
had arisen. The first was whether the provision in
article 16 to the effect that the diplomatic courier
would not be liable to any form of arrest or detention
afforded sufficient legal protection, or whether there
should be an additional provision on the jurisdic-
tional immunities to be accorded to the courier as a
logical consequence of personal inviolability. The
second question was whether, if an additional pro-
vision were inserted, the immunity from criminal
jurisdiction should be unqualified or confined to acts
performed by the courier in the exercise of his func-
tions.

69. Some members had considered that the pro-
vision in article 16 was sufficient, bearing in mind the
nature of the courier’s functions and his short stay in
the receiving or transit State, and they argued that to
grant jurisdictional immunity to the courier would be
to go beyond the existing law under the four codifi-
cation conventions. Other speakers had taken the
view that article 16 alone would not provide the
courier with adequate legal protection and had main-
tained that immunity from criminal jurisdiction was a
logical consequence of personal inviolability. Per-
sonal inviolability could not be separated from juris-
dictional immunity, for, in the absence of a provision
on jurisdictional immunity, criminal proceedings
could be instituted against the courier in absentia.

70. Article 16 was virtually identical with the last
sentence of article 27, paragraph 5, of the 1961
Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, and a
broad interpretation of the scope of the personal
inviolability of the diplomatic courier was supported
by legislative history. As early as 1957, the Commis-
sion had adopted a draft provision reading: “The
diplomatic courier shall be protected by the receiving
State. He shall enjoy personal inviolability and shall
not be liable to arrest or detention, whether admin-
istrative or judicial.””'* That formulation had later
been replaced by the more general “any form of
arrest or detention”, which was the wording used in
article 27, paragraph 5, of the 1961 Vienna Conven-
tion with reference to the courier, and in article 29 of
that Convention with reference to a diplomatic agent.

'® See the fourth report of the Special Rapporteur, Yearbook ...
1983, vol. II (Part One), p. 74, document A/CN.4/374 and Add.
1-4, para. 49.

It was thus apparent that, so far as inviolability was
concerned, the 1961 Vienna Convention accorded the
same treatment to the diplomatic courier as to the
staff of the mission. The same wording was also used
in article 35, paragraph 5, of the 1963 Vienna Con-
vention on Consular Relations with reference to the
personal inviolability of the consular courier, al-
though the personal inviolability of the consular
officer was circumscribed by article 41, paragraph 1,
of that Convention.

71. 1In that regard, it was interesting to note that, at
the United Nations Conference on Consular Rela-
tions in 1963, the Japanese representative had pro-
posed that a provision should be included in the
Convention whereby the consular courier would be
accorded the same protection as consular staff. Many
representatives had opposed that proposal and the
United Kingdom representative had stated that it
was essential for couriers to enjoy complete inviol-
ability, not the limited inviolability accorded to con-
sular officers.!" That uniform approach had been
adopted by the Conference and was abundantly
reflected in State practice. The two later codification
conventions had also adopted the same stance. On
that basis, he had concluded that there was a uniform
régime applicable to all types of couriers, one which
provided for their unqualified inviolability, including
exemption from any form of arrest or detention.

72. A further argument in support of a special pro-
vision on jurisdictional immunities of the courier was
that all four codification conventions contained an
express provision on personal inviolability and juris-
dictional immunity. It had been said that those con-
ventions did not contain any provision specifically on
the jurisdictional immunities of couriers. On the
other hand, they did not exclude such immunities,
and it might be an appropriate moment to fill the
lacuna.

73. As to the extent of the jurisdictional immunities
of the courier, from his own reading of the relevant
provisions of the four codification conventions he
had come to the conclusion that a consistent system
supported by State practice did exist. Many members
had been in favour of functional immunity from
criminal jurisdiction, confined to acts performed by
the courier in the exercise of his functions. The
opposing view had been that, in order to ensure safe
and unimpeded delivery of the bag, the courier
should be free from any pressure or coercion that
might interfere with the performance of his official
duties.

74. It had been noted quite properly that the send-
ing State would be severely prejudiced if its messen-
ger were forbidden to continue his mission in order to
remain at the disposal of the courts of the transit
State or receiving State. While on mission a courier
had to be in permanent physical contact with the bag
and needed the protection provided by the four con-
ventions. Whether or not express reference was made
to the exercise of his functions, the ultimate objective
should always be the same, namely protection of the
courier as an official of the sending State acting in the
performance of the task assigned to him. Any limi-
tation of immunity from criminal jurisdiction would,

" Ibid., p. 75, para. 53.



224

Summary records of the meetings of the thirty-seventh session

therefore, be a derogation from the system of inviol-
ability provided for under the codification conven-
tions. The final decision obviously lay with the Com-
mission, but his own view was that qualified immun-
ity from criminal jurisdiction would create more
problems than it would solve: quite apart from any
other impediment, the courts would be required to
determine the relationship between the act committed
by the courier and his official functions in each indi-
vidual case.

75. With regard to paragraph 2 of draft article 23, a
question had been raised regarding the meaning of
the term ‘“‘administrative jurisdiction™. In his opin-
ion, the term related to administrative proceedings
and not to any wider notion of jurisdiction, at least in
the case in point, since the other powers that the
administration and the police could exercise fell
within the context of the courier’s personal inviol-
ability and exemption from arrest or detention.

76. It had been suggested, in connection with para-
graph 4 of article 23, that written evidence could be
provided for to facilitate the administration of jus-
tice. The matter could be considered together with
certain other drafting points by the Drafting Com-
mittee.

The meeting rose at 1.15 p.m.

1914th MEETING

Monday, 1 July 1985, at 12.10 p.m.
Chairman: Mr. Satya Pal JAGOTA

Present: Chief Akinjide, Mr. Arangio-Ruiz, Mr.
Balanda, Mr. Calero Rodrigues, Mr. Flitan, Mr.
Francis, Mr. Koroma, Mr. Lacleta Muifioz, Mr.
Mahiou, Mr. McCaffrey, Mr. Ogiso, Mr. Pirzada,
Mr. Razafindralambo, Mr. Riphagen. Mr. Sucharit-
kul, Mr. Yankov.

Status of the diplomatic courier and the diplomatic bag
not accompanied by diplomatic courier (continued)
(A/CN.4/382,) A/CN.4/390,2 A/CN.4/L.382,
sect. C, ILC(XXXVII)/Conf.Room Deoc.2 and
Add.1)

[Agenda item 5]

DRAFT ARTICLES SUBMITTED BY THE
SPECIAL RAPPORTEUR? (continued)

' Reproduced in Yearbook ... 1984, vol. 11 (Part One).
? Reproduced in Yearbook ... 1985, vol. Il (Part One).

? The texts of the draft articles considered by the Commission at
its previous sessions are reproduced as follows:

Articles 1 to 8 and commentaries thereto, provisionally adopted
by the Commission at its thirty-fifth session: Yearbook ... 1983,
vol. H (Part Two), pp. 53 er seq.

Article 8 (revised) and articles 9 to 17, 19 and 20, and commen-
taries thereto, provisionally adopted by the Commission at its
thirty-sixth session: Yearbook ... 1984, vol. 11 (Part Two), pp. 45 et
seq.

Articles 24 to 35, referred to the Drafting Committee at the
Commission’s thirty-sixth session: ibid., pp. 21 et seq., footnotes 84
to 90 and 93 to 97.

Article 23 and articles 36 to 42, submitted at the Commission’s
thirty-fifth and thirty-sixth sessions: ibid., pp. 21 and 25-27, foot-
notes 82 and 98 to 104.

ARTICLE 23 (Immunity from jurisdiction)
ARTICLE 36 (Inviolability of the diplomatic bag)

ARTICLE 37 (Exemption from customs inspection,
customs duties and all dues and taxes)

ARTICLE 39 (Protective measures in circumstances
preventing the delivery of the diplomatic bag)

ARTICLE 40 (Obligations of the transit State in case
of force majeure or fortuitous event)

ARTICLE 41 (Non-recognition of States or Govern-
ments or absence of diplomatic or consular re-
lations)

ARTICLE 42 (Relation of the present articles to
other conventions and international agreements)
and

ARTICLE 43 (Declaration of optional exceptions to
applicability in regard to designated types of cour-
ters and bags)* (continued)

1. Mr. YANKOV (Special Rapporteur), continuing
his summing-up, said that one of the main substan-
tive issues raised in connection with draft article 36
had been the inviolability of the bag and its contents.
Several members of the Commission had said that
reference should be made to the inviolability of the
bag’s contents rather than to that of the bag itself. In
the opinion of other speakers, the inviolability of the
bag, namely the packages constituting the bag, and
that of their contents were intrinsically linked and
could not be dissociated. He shared the latter view.
The term “‘inviolability”, whether it related to physi-
cal objects or to abstract legal concepts or rules,
entailed an obligation to keep those objects, concepts
or rules intact and undisturbed. That was the sense in
which the term was used in the four codification
conventions and other international agreements in
the field of diplomatic and consular law. The rule
that the diplomatic bag should not be opened or
detained had been regarded as an important compo-
nent of the general principle of freedom of official
communications and respect for their confidential
character. In that connection, he referred to article
24, article 27, paragraphs 2 and 4, and article 40,
paragraph 3, of the 1961 Vienna Convention on
Diplomatic Relations, which constituted a coherent
system of rules relating to the inviolability of the bag.
Similar provisions were contained in the other codi-
fication conventions.

2. During its work on those conventions, the Com-
mission had emphasized the overriding importance it
attached to observance of the principle of the inviol-
ability of the diplomatic bag and of the consular
bag.® The concept of unqualified inviolability of the
diplomatic bag implied that opening the bag, detain-
ing it or examining its contents would be an infringe-
ment of its inviolability and thus prejudicial to the
secret and confidential character of its contents. In
that connection, the point made by Mr. Mahiou
(1908th meeting) and Mr. Razafindralambo (1909th
meeting) concerning the inviolability of personal cor-
reipondence under constitutional law had been well
taken.

* For the texts, see 1903rd meeting, para. 1.

* See the fourth report of the Special Rapporteur, Yearbook ...
1983, vol. 11 (Part One), pp. 123-124, document A/CN.4/374 and
Add.1-4, paras. 328-337.



